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SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION
1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE
Geotechnical Consulting & Testing, Inc. :
48898 Prince William Parkway U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Woodbridge, Virginia 22192 Region |, 475 Allendale Road
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406-1415
REPORT Nos. 03032078/2011001
3, DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5, DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
03032078 45-25138-01 8/31/2011
LICENSEE:

The Inspection was an examinatien of tne activitios conducted under yaur licanse as thay relate 16 radiation safety and o compllance with the Nuclear
Regutatory Commission {(NRC) rulas and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inapection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representafive records, interviews with personnel, and observations hy the inspactor. The Inspection findings are as follows:

D 1. Based on the Inspection findings, no violations were identified.

D 2. Previpus viclation(s) closed.

D 3, Tho violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited vialations, are not being cited because thoy were self-
ldentified, non-repalitive, and corrective acion was ar is being taken. and the remaining crileria In the NRC Enforcement Pelicy, NUREG~
1600, (o exercise discretion, wero satisfied.

Non-Cited Violarion(s) wasAvere discussed involving the followlng requiramenl(s) and Carraetive Actlon(s):

x| 4 During this inspaction certain of your activilies, as dascribed below and/or attached, were In violation of NRC requirements and are being
cited. This form Is 2 NQTICE QF VIOLATION, which may be sublect to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19,11,

NRC Liconse No. 45-25135-01, Amendment 9, Condition 19, states that the licensae shall conduct its program in
accordance with the statoments, representations, and procedures contalned In the licenae application dated June 28,
2011. Sactlon 10 of tho liconso application states that the licensea will implement and malntain the operating and
emergency procadurea in Appandix M af NUREG-1556, Vol. 1, Rev, 1, dated Novembaer 2001, and provide copies of these
procodures to all gaugs users at each job site.

Contrary to this raquirement, from Juna 29, 2011, to August 31, 2011, Geotechnical Consulting and Teating, Ine. did not
maintaln the operating and emorgency procedures In Appendix H of NUREG-1556, Vol. 1, Rev. 1, datod November 2001,
and provide coples of these procaduras to all gauge users at each Job site. Specifically, Oparating and Emergency
procedures from the Stale of Virginia wore maintained, and coples of Appendix M of NUREG-1556, Vol. 1, Rev. 1, was not
provided to all gauge users at aach site. In responsa to this viclation, the RSO stated that capies of NUREG 1556, val. 1,
Rov. 1, Appendix H, Errata: Operating, Emargancy, and Security procedureg would be placed In each gauge containar
and that tralning would be provided to each gauge user on te use of those procedures.

-~

Statement of Corrective Actions

i hereby stato that, within 30 days, the actians described by me lo the inspector will be taken to carrect the violations ldenlifled. This slalement of
carractiva actions is made ln accordance with the reqlirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective staps already taken. carrective steps which will be taken,
aate when full compllance will be achieved). | understand that na further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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